The Stereochemistry of Nucleophilic Substitution at Tetracoordinated Silicon

ROBERT R. HOLMES

Department of Chemistry, University of Massachusetts, Amherst, Massachusetts 01003

Received May 5, 1989 (Revised Manuscript Received September 1, 1989)

Contents

I. Introduction	17
II. Mechanisms	18
A. Experimental Basis	18
1. Kinetics and Product Formation	18
2. Structural Characterization of	20
Five-Coordinated Species	
3. Application to the Sol-Gel Process	24
B. Theoretical Basis	25
1. Apicophilicity	25
2. Effect of Nucleophile on Apicophilicity	26
of Leaving Group	
3. Model Calculations	26
C. Reactivity of Pentacoordinated Species	28
III. Conclusion and Future Work	29

I. Introduction

During the past decade experimental work, largely through the efforts of Corriu^{1,2a-c} and co-workers, has greatly expanded the reaction chemistry of tetracoordinated silicon compounds that had its initial basis arising from the pioneering work of Sommer^{2d} and coworkers. A large body of the results are interpretable in terms of reaction mechanisms involving pentacoordinated species. This has given rise to some proposed pathways for nucleophilic displacement that complement those in phosphorus chemistry.³ These are illustrated in Figure 1 for (a) an inversion process proceeding by way of nucleophilic attack at a tetrahedral face resulting in the formation of a transient trigonal bipyramid with the entering and leaving groups in apical positions and (b) a retention process governed again by facial attack by the nucleophile, only this time yielding a transient trigonal bipyramid with the leaving group in an adjacent equatorial position. For departure to occur from an apical position, as postulated in phosphorus chemistry,^{3,4} pseudorotation is envisioned to occur.

A reaction pathway for nucleophilic displacement, not widely considered in phosphorus chemistry, involving edge attack at tetrahedral silicon has been advanced by Corriu.¹ This is shown in Figure 1c and leads to a trigonal bipyramid with the incoming nucleophile situated equatorially. Apical departure of the leaving group in this process results in retention of configuration for chiral derivatives.

Recently, considerable attention, from both a theoretical and a structural point of view, has been directed toward the isolation and characterization of five-coordinated anionic silicon species that serve as models in nucleophilic substitution reactions at silicon centers. This has resulted in the formation of a large variety of



Robert R. Holmes was born in Chicago, IL. He received the B.S. degree in 1950 at the Illinois Institute of Technology, Chicago, and the Ph.D. in 1953 with H. C. Brown at Purdue University. He taught at the Carnegie Institute of Technology before joining the technical staff at Bell Laboratories, Murray Hill, NJ, in 1962. He assumed his present position in 1966 at the University of Massachusetts, Amhert, as Professor of Inorganic Chemistry. In addition to the topic of this review article, his research interests encompass organotin cluster chemistry and the structure and reactivity of hypervalent phosphorus compounds. His publications include two invited ACS monographs, Nos. 175 and 176, on pentacoordinated phosphorus, and his wife, Joan, is a chemist who is a coauthor on many of his publications. Currently, he is Editor-in-Chief of *Phosphorus*, *Sulfur*, and *Silicon and the Related Elements*.

new pentacoordinated derivatives along with a study of their stability, structural variations, and dynamic NMR behavior. As a consequence, sufficient data are available to make meaningful comparisons with the more comprehensive studies performed on related phosphorane derivatives.⁵

It is the purpose of this review to assess the present state of knowledge in this area with a view toward defining the role that pentacoordination assumes in nucleophilic substitution reactions at silicon. Much of the literature on reaction kinetics and product formation has been the subject of reviews by Corriu and coworkers.^{1,2a-c,6-8} However, recent advances⁹⁻¹¹ have shown new features of silicon pentacoordination revealing its heightened reactivity compared to that of tetracoordinated silicon. The impact of this interesting finding will be examined here. Of greater concern is the integration of knowledge from experimental, structural, and theoretical aspects that has not been treated before. Recent theoretical studies¹⁰⁻¹⁷ have given added insight into the stereochemical transformations encountered in nucleophilic displacement reactions. This area has provided results from a range of computational methods that have focused attention on the stability of pentacoordinated molecules and ions. Fortunately, for the



Figure 1. Mechanisms for nucleophilic substitution reactions of silicon: (a) inversion; (b) retention involving axial attack and pseudorotation to give axial departure; (c) retention involving equatorial attack and axial departure. ψ symbolizes a pseudorotational process.

purposes of this review, much of this material has been summarized.¹⁷ The overview presented here takes advantage of the existing knowledge from phosphorus chemistry in an effort to assess results from recent structural and theoretical studies on pentacoordinated silicon relative to their usefulness in advancing our understanding of mechanistic features of nucleophilic substitution reactions at silicon.

II. Mechanisms

A. Experimental Basis

1. Kinetics and Product Formation

In this section, sufficient experimental information^{1,6,7} is presented to indicate the range of systems studied and the conclusions concerning mechanistic pathways that have been advanced.

When the leaving group at a chiral silicon center is chlorine, inversion of configuration invariably occurs. Fluorine is a poorer leaving group. Si-F bond cleavage may lead to inversion, retention, or a mixture of products, depending on the system and nucleophile entering into the displacement process. Si-H bond cleavage occurs primarily with retention of configuration. A more extensive series showing decreasing leaving group ability and increasing degree of retention toward the right is (INV) Cl, Br, OAc > F, SR > OMe, H (RN). This is a similar order to that found in phosphorus chemistry.

Examples of some representative intermediates appearing in S_N^2 solvolysis, hydrolysis, and alkylation reactions⁷ may take the forms in Figure 2 if we are to have agreement with the mechanistic schemes shown in Figure 1a,b; i.e., the entering nucleophile and leaving group do so at apical positions in accord with Westheimer's proposal.⁴ These intermediates are a result of facial attack at tetrahedral silicon and phosphorus reactants. To accommodate the Westheimer proposal, cleavage of the P–X bond in C,^{2b} the Si–O bond in E,¹⁸



Figure 2. Possible activated states in nucleophilic substitution reactions at tetracoordinate silicon and phosphorus.

or the P-Cl bond in F^{2c,19} would require pseudorotation of the intermediate to bring the departing group to an apical position. In the case of the phenoxide reaction in B and C, a mixture of isomers is obtained,^{2b} showing more retention when X = F as the departing group compared to when X = Cl. Corriu⁷ states that since fluorine is more apicophilic than chlorine, inversion should be more favorable when X = F compared to when X = Cl, and hence these results could not be predicted with Westheimer's concepts. On the basis of calculations,^{10b} we have shown that chlorine is more apicophilic than fluorine except when highly electronegative ligands are present, i.e., in the PCl_nF_{5-n} series. In the intermediates B and C, considerable negative charge resides on the equatorial phosphoryl oxygen, making it a group of low electronegativity,²⁰ comparable to that of a hydrogen atom. Thus, it may be that no "rules" are violated in interpreting the greater cleavage of P-Cl bonds by an inversion route compared to cleavage of P-F bonds.

That the two forms B and C might arise in competition with each other in the first place most likely rests with a balance of relief of a certain degree of ring strain for the six-membered form favoring intermediate C. As Marsi^{21,22} has shown in the alkaline cleavage of cyclic phosphonium salts varying in ring size from five to seven membered, the stereochemistry goes from 100% retention for reaction of a five-membered-ring cis phosphonium salt, to about 50% retention for reaction of the corresponding six-membered-ring cis phosphonium salt, and to 0% retention for reaction of the seven-membered-ring salt, all with cleavage of the poor leaving group, benzyl.

Activated-state E may result as a kinetically favored initial intermediate if we assume that the α -naphthyl group is of sufficient size to sterically block the approach of the nucleophile opposite the endocyclic Si-O bond undergoing cleavage.^{10b} Pseudorotation then brings the Si-O bond to a departing apical position. Intermediate D may gain relative stability to E with the use of a softer nucleophile.^{10b} In addition to the relief of ring strain, hydrogen bonding may assist in the



Figure 3. Changes in rates of solvolysis (P-Cl bond cleavage) of chlorophosphates as a function of nucleophile.

cleavage process as indicated in D. The above discussion relative to Figure 2 is given to indicate possible uniformity with the principal inversion-retention schemes, Figure 1a,b, previously discussed in connection with phosphorus reaction stereochemistry.³

In contrast to the above, Corriu⁷ concludes that the inversion stereochemistry and high hydrolysis and methanolysis rates of Si–O ring cleavage associated with the formation of D in the case of five-membered rings are attributable to the symmetry of the intermediate, i.e., that these effects result when an oxygen displaces another oxygen at silicon. In the case of organometallics as nucleophiles (RLi, RMgX), the retention stereochemistry and reduced rate of Si–O ring bond cleavage are attributed to a lack of symmetry associated with the incoming alkyl nucleophile relative to the leaving oxygen group.⁷ Here, equatorial entry, depicted in Figure 1c, and axial departure are proposed,⁷ as shown in H.



The above stereochemistry for reactions at silicon undergoing endocyclic Si-O bond cleavage by way of postulated intermediates D, E, and H may be compared with similar arguments for the solvolysis of chlorophosphates^{7,19} undergoing cleavage of the P-Cl bond containing the better leaving group, chlorine instead of oxygen. Kinetic measurements¹⁹ at 0 °C reveal that the acyclic phosphate (EtO)₂POCl and six-membered-ring phosphate (OCH₂CH₂CH₂O)POCl react slowly with EtOH, 1.2×10^{-6} and 0.55×10^{-6} L mol⁻¹ s⁻¹, respectively, but at comparably increasing rates as the nucleophile is changed along the series $EtOH < H_2O <$ $PhOH < Et_2NH$ until at Et_2NH , the rate of solvolysis of the P-Cl bond (0.028 and 0.0038 L mol⁻¹ s⁻¹, respectively) approaches to within 1 or 2 orders of magnitude of the rate of cleavage observed for the fivemembered-ring phosphate (OCH₂CH₂O)POCl (0.21 L $mol^{-1} s^{-1}$). In contrast to the variation in rate seen for the acyclic and six-membered-ring phosphate with variation in the nucleophile, little variation is seen for the five-membered-ring compound (Figure 3). Furthermore, there is an expected difference in stereochemistry with the acyclic and six-membered-ring phosphate following an inversion path and the five-



Figure 4. Reaction mechanism for a solvolysis reaction proceeding with pseudorotation according to the retention scheme in Figure 1b.

membered-ring derivative following a retention route.

These results are rationalized⁷ in terms of the appearance of activated intermediates I and J postulated for the inversion and retention stereochemistries, respectively. The argument for equatorial entry of the



nucleophile at 90° to the leaving group is that the reactivity of the apical P-Cl bond should not be influenced to a large degree by variation in the nucleophile,⁶ whereas a considerable body of structural⁵ and theoretical²³ data support a more direct and heightened influence of the nucleophile when it and the leaving group are both in apical positions of a trigonal bipyramid. These data will be discussed in later sections.

However, instead of following equatorial attack as depicted in Figure 1c leading to the intermediate J, the retention scheme in Figure 1b involving pseudorotation appears equally valid in that the nucleophile and departing chloride ion maintain adjacent positions and are never "in line". This is made clear in Figure 4. Furthermore, we speculate here that the most likely intermediate representing the barrier state is the square pyramid b formed in the pseudorotational process in Figure 4 whose energy may be even less influenced by the type of attacking nucleophile than the initially formed intermediate a or pseudorotated conformer c. The placement of five-membered cyclic ligands in their preferred apical-equatorial positions³ of a trigonal bipyramid is maintained throughout this scheme. Relief of ring strain accompanying this orientation is expected following Westheimer's work⁴ on the hydrolysis of five-membered cyclic esters and is most likely the reason this chlorophosphate exhibits a higher solvolysis rate not reached by any change of nucleophile in the solvolysis of the acyclic and six-membered-ring chlorophosphates.

In general, whether an inversion or retention pathway is followed depends on the energy of the intermediates involved (Figure 1). For the routes conventionally applied in phosphorus chemistry, i.e., Figure 1a,b, Trippett²⁴ pointed out some time ago that as the apicophilicity of the nucleophile increases, an intermediate like III in Figure 1b or c in Figure 4 will become increasingly less stable. As a consequence, the probability that the reaction will go by an inversion pathway is enhanced. In phosphetane chemistry where placement of four-membered rings in diequatorially positions leads to higher energies compared to five-membered rings,²⁵ apicophilicity factors have not been sufficient to alter the stereochemical course from the retention route for reactions involving exocyclic cleavage.

In addition to conformational preferences for small-membered rings, steric strain, π bonding, and electronic effects associated with nonreacting substituents all operate to influence the relative energies of activated states postulated for the various pathways in Figure 1. Not all of these factors have received adequate attention to allow a comprehensive correlation of stereochemical results in phosphorus chemistry and less so in silicon chemistry, although an empirical model^{26,27} based on energy barriers from NMR studies has offered some predictive value to discriminate among competing pathways in the case of phosphorus reactions. Further, to make comparisons between phosphorus and silicon chemistry on similarities and differences in operational reaction pathways, one must understand how the various terms are altered between the two systems. Corriu and co-workers have done much to provide a thought-provoking basis stemming from their extensive experimental work on these two seemingly closely related chemistries. In the following section, we outline some of the more important structural and theoretical features that lend toward a unified interpretation of nucleophilic substitution reactions.

2. Structural Characterization of Five-Coordinated Species

(a) Solid-State Studies. It is to be realized that studies of the structural behavior of five-coordinated anionic silicates and comparison with that of isoelectronic phosphoranes provide information useful in establishing structural preferences for activated states in reaction mechanisms that are under thermodynamic control. Approach of a nucleophile to a tetrahedral molecule having sizeable steric properties, for example, may lead to the formation of an initial state that is guided by kinetics. This imposes an additional complication for which there is, at present, no adequate answer. However, much worthwhile information has resulted from work on what might be termed model systems that relate to the thermodynamic stability of proposed activated states.

Recent advances in silicon chemistry arise from X-ray studies²⁸⁻³³ showing that five-coordinated anionic silicon compounds form a series of structures that span the range from trigonal bipyramidal to square pyramidal similar to that found earlier for phosphoranes.³³⁻³⁵ Most of these silicon compounds are bicyclics wherein ring strain and substituent effects control the degree of distortion from the ideal trigonal bipyramid (TBP) toward the square or rectangular pyramid (RP). A partial tabulation of bond angle data is given in Table I. Formulas of silicon-containing anions represented as salts in Table I and, in general, elsewhere in this review are drawn without charges.

It is useful to plot the values of the trans basal angles θ_{15} and θ_{24} of the RP (which are axial and equatorial angles with reference to the trigonal bipyramid (TBP)) vs the dihedral angle δ_{24} .³⁴ The latter angle is the dihedral angle formed between normals to the TBP faces 124 and 245 that have the common equatorial edge 24

TABLE I. Axial and Equatorial Angles (θ) and Dihedral Angle (δ) Sums for Pentacoordinated Anionic Silicates (Deg)

				$\%(\text{TBP} \rightarrow$	
compd	δ_{24}	θ_{15}	θ_{24}	RP) ^a	ref^b
4 ^c	59.8	187.5	118.9		40b
2°	57.6	181.3	114.8		40b
3	47.8	174.6	121.4	9.0	39
5(B) ^d	41.2	176.6	132.2	25.4	38
$5(\mathbf{A})^d$	39.6	176.2	133.7	28.7	38
6	37.0	167.7	127.9	29.5	37
13	35.5	168.4	130.5	33.2	30
$8(B)^d$	26.6	168.4	140.7	52.8	28
7	24.7	161.7	136.0	53.3	40a
12	21.9	160.4	137.8	58.7	30
$8(A)^d$	18.0	164.0	145.5	68.7	28
9	15.3	159.2	143.6	72.1	29
10	5.5	152.9	147.3	89.8	29
11	1.2	152.1	150.9	97.6	30

^aCalculated by a dihedral angle method based on unit bond distances.³⁴ ^bThese are references to the X-ray studies. ^cThe directions of angular displacement in 2 and 4 are opposite those for the Berry coordinate for both the axial and equatorial angles. This is sometimes referred to as an anti-Berry displacement and is observed occasionally when the structures are close to TBP. ^dTwo independent molecules per unit cell.





Figure 5. Variations of the axial angle, θ_{15} (open circles), and equatorial angle, θ_{24} (filled circles), vs the dihedral angle, δ_{24} , as structural distortion for pentacoordinated silicon(IV) compounds listed in Table VII of ref 31 and in Table IV of ref 29 proceeds along the Berry coordinate from a rectangular pyramid toward a trigonal bipyramid. The least-squares lines $\theta_{15} = 0.5697\delta_{24} + 150.0$ and $\theta_{24} = -0.5778\delta_{24} + 151.9$ give an average value of 151.0° for the trans basal angle of the "limiting" rectangular pyramid. The solid lines were determined by the values of 180 and 120° for the ideal trigonal bipyramid, $\delta_{24} = 53.1^\circ$, and 151.0° at $\delta_{24} = 0^\circ$.

and is the one most intimately associated with the Berry exchange coordinate.³⁶ This dihedral angle has a value of 53.1° for an idealized TBP but becomes 0° as edge 24 disappears on forming the RP. Figure 5 represents



a θ vs δ_{24} plot for most of the known pentacoordinate silicon compounds that have been structurally characterized by X-ray analysis.^{28-32,37-40} It is seen that the Berry coordinate is well followed and leads to a "limiting" RP structure, i.e., as δ_{24} goes to zero, with a θ angle of 151°. Comparison with a similar plot for the more extensively studied phosphoranes^{34,35} shows approximately the same scatter from the Berry coordinate and a similar value for the trans basal angle of the RP.

As with phosphoranes,^{35,41} reduced ring strain achieved by axial-equatorial placement in a TBP takes preference to the location of the most electronegative element in the axial position; cf. 5 and 8. Also, as observed with phosphoranes,^{35,41} the RP geometry is approached when unsaturated five-membered rings contain like atoms in any one ring directly bonded to the central atom and two such rings are present. Lesser

 TABLE II. Ring Si-O Bond Lengths for Pentacoordinated

 Anionic Cyclic Silicates

			a	
		0, 5, 05		
entry	δ ₂₄ ^e	Si-O _{ax} ^b	Si-O _{eq} ^b	ref
5(A) ^c	39.6	(1) 1.792 (5) 1.787		38
5(B) ^c	41.2	 (1) 1.806 (5) (1.782) 		38
6 ^d	37.0	(1), (5) 1.794	(2),(4) 1.700	37
7	24.7	(1) 1.769* (5) 1.749*	(2) 1.711 (4) 1.735*	40a
8(A) ^c	18.0	$\begin{array}{c}(1) \ 1.742\\(5) \ 1.736\end{array}$	(2) 1.704(4) 1.706	28
8(B)°	26.6	 (1) 1.741 (5) 1.738 	(2) 1.699(4) 1.701	28
9	15.3	 (1) 1.738* (5) 1.757* 	(2) 1.717*(4) 1.685	29
10	5.5	 (1) 1.759 (5) 1.753 	(2) 1.746 (4) 1.757	29
11	1.2	 (1) 1.750* (5) 1.733 	(2) 1.734(4) 1.759*	30
12	21.9	 (1) 1.734 (5) 1.772* 	(2) 1.742*(4) 1.722	30
13	35.5	(1) 1.820* (5) 1.751	(2) 1.71(4) 1.698	30

^a The numbering of the ring oxygen atoms is shown in parentheses. ^bSi-O bond lengths superscripted with an asterisk refer to the involvement of these oxygen atoms in hydrogen bonding. Hydrogen bonding was considered only for X-H...Y distances <2.75 Å. ^cTwo independent molecules per unit cell. ^dContains a crystallographic twofold axis collinear with the equatorial phenyl group. ^e The dihedral angle δ_{24} is the one between triangular faces 124 and 245 containing the common equatorial edge 24.

factors that favor the RP³⁵ are the presence of electron-withdrawing ring substituents, Z, and a sterically large acyclic ligand of low electronegativity in the fifth position, R.



For the anionic silicates, occasionally lattice effects²⁸ or intermolecular hydrogen bonding^{30,31} influences the expected structural distortion based on the above factors.

Table II lists Si–O bond lengths. A more extensive compilation including some of these values shows that the ideal trigonal bipyramid has an estimated³⁰ 1.78-Å distance for the axial Si–O bond length and 1.68 Å for the equatorial Si–O length. As apparent in Table II, there is a general convergence in these lengths in terms of the difference between axial and equatorial Si–O bond distances as δ_{24} goes from 53.1° (for the TBP) to 0° (for the RP). Si–O bonds that are lengthened as a result of hydrogen bonding were not included in this trend. Anionic silicates related to 5 of Table I are known where fluorine is replaced by a phenyl group in a Me_4N^+ salt^{42a} and by a cyclohexyl group in a Et_4N^+ salt.^{42b} i.e.



X = F (5), M = $(Me_2N)_3S^+$; X = Ph, M = Me_4N^+ ; and X = C_6H_{11} , M = Et_4N^+ . The Si- O_{ax} bond lengths progressively increase over the series as less electronegative groups are introduced, from 1.792 Å (F)³⁸ to 1.815 Å (Ph)^{42a} to 1.839 Å (C_6H_{11}),^{42b} in accord with VSEPR theory. These are average Si- O_{ax} bond lengths, and, in the case of the fluoro and phenyl derivatives, two independent molecules per unit cell are present. The structural distortions of all three derivatives are very similar to each other and as indicated for 5 in Table I approximately 25% displaced from the trigonal bipyramid.

The relative ease of distortion from the TBP toward the RP provided by modest variations in substituents of the anionic silicon derivatives largely composed of oxygen-containing bicyclic ring systems, similar to that studied for phosphoranes, suggests that the energy differences between those two geometries are relatively small and somewhat comparable between the two series of compounds. Most nonrigid phosphoranes have activation energies^{26,27} for ligand exchange obtained from NMR studies ranging from 5 kcal/mol for acyclic derivatives to 25 kcal/mol for derivatives containing cyclic ligands exhibiting steric effects. These values most likely reflect the energy differences between the two five-coordinated geometries. From ³¹P NMR measurements on phosphoranes, it was concluded⁴³ that the structures observed in the solid state were retained in solution.

The structures of two additional classes of anionic silicates have been studied by X-ray diffraction, cyclic pentaoxysilicates⁴⁴ and acyclic fluorosilicates.^{45,46} Also the X-ray structure of the first five-coordinated cyanosilicate (17a) was reported by Dixon and co-workers⁴⁷ and the first silylsilicate by Kiro and co-workers (17b). The latter (17b) exhibits a very long Si–O bond, 1.838 (5) Å, approaching the longest one known, 1.855 Å, that for the cyclohexyl derivative^{42b} referred to above.



The spirobispinacolate derivatives $[(Me_4C_2O_2)_2SiO_2$ t-Bu][K,18-crown-6] (14), $[(Me_4C_2O_2)_2SiOEt][n-1]$ $BuNH_3$] (15), and $[(Me_4C_2O_2)_2SiOMe][n-BuNH_3]$. CH_3OH (16) provided the first structural characterization of cyclic pentaoxysilicates⁴⁴ and suggests that a similar study of the more easily hydrolyzable acyclic pentaoxysilicates that closely model proposed intermediates^{14,49} in the sol-gel process may be possible. Thus far, however, the isolation of crystalline derivatives has been elusive, although NMR data have established their existence (see section on NMR). The characterization of the pinacolate derivatives 14-1644 was based on variations of synthetic methods reported earlier by Frye,⁵⁰ who formed 16 in addition to other members of this class. In terms of structural displacement from the TBP toward the RP, 15 is 38.9% displaced, 16 is 71.2% displaced, and 14 is 24.1% displaced (Table III). All of these derivatives lie along the Berry pseudorotational coordinate. Hydrogen

 TABLE III. Pesudorotational Parameters for Pentaoxy

 Anionic Silicates⁴⁴

compd	θ_{15} , ^a deg	θ_{24} , ^b deg	δ ₂₄ (unit) ^c	$\begin{array}{c} \% (\text{TBP} \rightarrow \text{RP}) \\ (\text{unit})^d \end{array}$
14	170.9 (2)	127.6 (2)	38.9 (40.4)	24.6 (24.1)
15	169.0 (2)	134.0 (2)	31.6 (33.1)	39.3 (38.9)
16	161.2(2)	144.6(2)	15.4(16.2)	71.5 (71.2)

^a θ_{12} represents the O_{ax} -Si- O_{ax} angle. ^b θ_{24} represents the O_{eq} -Si- O_{eq} angle. ^c δ_{24} is the dihedral angle between polyhedral faces 1, 2, 4 and 2, 4, 5, where the numbers identify the atom positions. ^d The percent displacement from the TBP to the RP is calculated by a dihedral angle method.³⁴ The values in parentheses refer to the use of unit Si-O bond lengths.



bonding provided by the n-BuNH₃⁺ cation is implicated in accounting for the greater structural displacements of 15 and 16.⁴⁴

Schomburg³⁹ obtained the first accurate X-ray structure of an acyclic anionic pentacoordinated silicon compound, i.e., [PhSiF₄][NPr₄] (3). Schomburg and Krebs^{40b} also reported the structures for the penta-fluorosilicate [SiF₅][PhCH₂NMe₃] (2) and the related diphenyl derivative [Ph₂SiF₃][Me₄N] (4). The X-ray analysis of additional members of the series R_nSiF_{5-n} is now available^{45,46} with ligands of increasing steric bulk. All of these derivatives (17-24) are listed in Table IV, which records their Si-ligand bond lengths. A distortion parameter Δ is included which is calculated⁵¹ as the sum of the displacements of the bond angles, F_{ax} -Si- F_{ax} and F_{eq} -Si- F_{eq} , from 180° and 120°, respectively, for the ideal TBP structure.

There is an approximate linear relation between an increase in the Si–C bond lengths with increasing angular distortion.⁵¹ This type of correlation is less apparent in the Si–F bond lengths,⁵¹ although the longest apical Si–F bonds reside with the derivatives containing the bulkiest ligands, 1-Np, Mes, Xyl, and t-Bu. To relieve steric crowding the apical and equatorial F–Si–F bond angles undergo ready deformation, giving rise to the increasing value of Δ down the series in Table IV. The F_{ax}–Si–F_{ax} angle in all of these silicates is involved in the low-energy pseudorotational motion.

The longest $\tilde{Si}-\tilde{F}$ bond in five-coordinated anionic silicates is found in the mesityl derivative $[Mes_2SiF_3][K,18$ -crown-6]·CH₂Cl₂¹¹ for the Si-F_{ax} bond, 1.729 (6) Å. The shortest one is an equatorial Si-F bond of 1.579 (2) Å observed in $[SiF_5][BzNMe_3]$.^{40b} Relative to the isoelectronic phosphoranes, a comparable range of distances are present. P-F bond lengths extend from

TABLE IV. Si–C Bond Lengths (Å) and the Distortion Parameter Δ (Deg) for Anionic Fluorosilicates^a

compd	Si-F _{ax}	Si-F _{eq}	Si-C	Δ	ref	
$SiF_{5}^{-}(2)$	1.646	1.579		3.1	40b	
-		1.602				
$PhSiF_4^{-}(3)$	1.668	1.597	1.871	6.8	3 9	
	1.670	1.604				
$PhMeSiF_3^{-}(17)$	1.689	1.621	1.882 (Ph)	7.2	51	
	1.701		1.845 (Me)			
$Ph_{2}SiF_{3}^{-}(4)$	1.688	1.648	1.893	8.7	40b	
$1 - NpPh_2SiF_2^{-}(18)$	1.720		1.915 (Ph)	9.4	51	
			1.925 (1-Np)			
$(o-Tol)_2 SiF_3^{-}(19)$	1.706	1.640	1.904	9.9	46	
	1.695		1.886			
$Mes_2SiF_3^{-}(20)$	1.729	1.641	1.915	11.4	11	
	1.678		1.872			
$Xyl_{2}SiF_{3}^{-}(21)$	1.703	1.652	1.919	11.8	46	
	1.725		1.925			
t-BuPhSiF ₃ ⁻ (22)	1.682	1.639	1.902 (Ph)	12.4	46	
-	1.718		1.897 (t-Bu)			
$MesSiF_4$ (23)	1.672^{b}	1.606^{b}	1.902	12.5	45	
$(TTBP)SiF_4^{-c}$ (24)	1.696	1.613	1.942	15.0	45	
•	1.657	1.630				

^aAll are K⁺, 18-crown-6 salts except $[SiF_5][PhCH_2NMe_3]$ (2), [PhSiF₄][Pr₄N] (3), [Ph₂SiF₃][Me₄N] (4), [PhMeSiF₃][*n*-Bu₄N] (17), and $[1-NpPh_2SiF_2][(NMe_2)_3S]$ (18). ^b Average values are listed due to disorder. ^cTTBP = 2,4,6-tri-*tert*-butylphenyl.



Figure 6. ORTEP plot of the cation-anion pair in $[(t-Bu)_3C_6H_2SiF_4][K,18-crown-6]\cdot CH_2Cl_2$ (24) with thermal ellipsoids at the 30% probability level. Hydrogen atoms are omitted for clarity.

the shortest, 1.534 ± 0.004 Å for the P-F_{eq} bond in PF₅,^{52a} to 1.685 (1) Å reported for the P-F_{ax} bond length in Me₃PF₂.^{52b} Both of these structures were obtained on the gaseous state by electron diffraction.

Detailed examination⁴⁵ of $[(t-Bu)_3C_6H_2SiF_4][K,18-crown-6]$ reveals the extreme steric crowding in the molecule. The F_{eq} -Si- F_{eq} angle of 107.1° is very small and the phenyl group is not rotated out of the equatorial plane as normally occurs but is tipped up out of it (Figure 6).

The compounds in Table IV include both steric and electronic effects in their influence on bond parameters. In an effort to separate these terms, two distinct correlations⁵¹ of bond parameter variations encountered in each of the two series MePhSiF₃⁻, Ph₂SiF₃⁻, t-Bu-PhSiF₃⁻, Xyl₂SiF₃⁻, where the number of fluorine atoms is held constant, and SiF₅⁻, PhSiF₄⁻, Ph₂SiF₃⁻, NpPh₂SiF₂⁻, where the number of fluorine atoms is successively diminished, show progressively increasing Si-F and Si-C bond lengths along these series. The first series presumably is controlled primarily by increasing steric effects, whereas the second series shows

TABLE V. Energy Barriers (kcal/mol) for Intramolecular Exchange in $[RR'SiF_3][K,18$ -crown-6]^a and Ph₂PF₃^b

•		-	• •	
compd	R	R′	ΔG^*	_
25	p-Tol	p-Tol	12.2	_
19	o-Tol	o-Tol	10.6	
26	p-NO ₂ Ph	$p-NO_2Ph$	10.8	
27	1-Np	1-Np	10.2	
28	Ph	Xyl	10.2	
22	Ph	t-Bu	9.0	
21	Xyl	Xyl	>14.5	
4	Ph	Ph	11.7	
17	Ph	Me	9.9	
29	(CH ₂)5 ^c		9.1	
Ph_2PF_3			18.7	

^a Reference 56 except compound **29**, which is from ref 46 and 57. ^b Reference 58a. ^c (CH₂)₅ forms a six-membered ring with silicon.

bond length increases primarily reflecting the insertion of less electronegative ligands in place of fluorine atoms.⁵³

(b) NMR Studies. Consistent with the ease of structural distortion along the Berry pseudorotational coordinate found in the solid state,^{29,31} NMR studies^{11,38,42a,45,46,54-57} of anionic silicates have provided evidence for rapid intramolecular ligand exchange similar to that studied for phosphoranes.^{5,26} At low temperatures, exchange is sufficiently slowed in some cases to see the NMR pattern of the ground-state molecule. This area has received attention only recently in supplying activation barriers for ligand exchange processes for silicon, although Klanberg and Muetterties⁵⁴ first reported rapid ligand exchange processes for SiF₅⁻ and RSiF₄⁻ derivatives some time ago. In the case of Ph₂SiF₃⁻, exchange was stopped at low temperature as shown by ¹⁹F NMR.

All of the data discussed so far have referred to pentacoordinated fluorosilicates. Table V lists the activation barriers for ligand exchange resulting from line shape analysis of ¹⁹F NMR spectra obtained by Damrauer and co-workers⁵⁶ at various temperatures for members of the series $[RR'SiF_3][K, 18$ -crown-6]. Since Si-F spin coupling is seen and the log (k/T) vs 1/T plot is linear throughout the temperature range. Damrauer et al.^{56a} conclude that the exchange is intramolecular. We have confirmed this conclusion by obtaining the corresponding ²⁹Si NMR spectra, which showed retention of Si-F coupling over the entire temperature region extending from the low-temperature limit of "stopped" exchange up to the fast-exchange region for a number of derivatives, e.g., $Mes_2SiF_3^-$ (20)⁴⁶ and (TTBP)SiF₄⁻ (24) (TTBP = 2,4,6-tri-*tert*-butylphenyl).⁴⁵ This is illustrated in Figure 7 for Mes_2SiF_3 (20).

The diphenyl derivatives for phosphorus^{58a} and silicon^{56a} are the only acyclic ones in common that have had their exchange barriers determined. The considerably lower value for the silicon derivative may be associated with the greater nonrigid character previously implied³⁰ for pentacoordinated anionic silicates relative to the isoelectronic phosphoranes. The latter is reasonable in terms of a reduction in the inherent difference in energy for the normally higher energy SP relative to the ground-state TBP expected for a "looser" structure implied for silicon with its greater charge dispersal as a result of the lower nuclear charge on silicon. Ab initio calculations performed on the TBP– SP energy difference between PF₅ and SiF₅⁻ support this conclusion, showing a smaller energy difference for



Figure 7. Variable-temperature ²⁹Si NMR spectra of $[Mes_2SiF_3][K,18$ -crown-6] showing retention of ²⁹Si⁻¹⁹F spin-spin coupling from the "stopped" exchange region, -68 °C, to the fast exchange region, 8 °C.

TABLE VI. Energy Barriers (kcal/mol) for Intramolecular Exchange in [(TTBP)SiF₄][K,18-crown-6] (24) and Phosphoranes (RPF₄)

· · · ·	· • •		
compd	ΔG^*	ref	
CIPF4	4.2	60	
Me ₂ NPF ₄	8.8	60	
i-Pr ₂ NPF ₄	7.5	61	
(TTBP)SiF_	12.8	45, 57	

the anionic pentafluorosilicate compared to that for PF_{s} .⁵⁹

Table VI compares the exchange barrier value of [(TTBP)SiF₄][K,18-crown-6] (24),^{45,57} 12.8 kcal/mol, with values for related isoelectronic RPF₄^{60,61} derivatives. Consistent with the high degree of steric crowding in the $(TTBP)SiF_4^-$ anion, this is the only example of an $RSiF_4^-$ compound where ligand exchange has been "stopped" on the NMR time scale. Rotational motion of the substituted phenyl group about the Si-C bond (see Figure 6) must accompany the pseudorotation process, and undoubtedly steric hindrance contributes to the slowing of fluorine exchange for this substance. The magnitude of the steric effects required to stop exchange for organotetrafluorosilicates apparently needs to be large. Even the mesityl derivative $MesSiF_4$ showed no evidence for significant slowing of fluorine exchange down to -100 °C.⁴⁵ The latter behavior is analogous to that observed in a ¹⁹F NMR study by Appel and Krieger⁶² of (TTBP)PF₄ containing the identical ligand although the study of th identical ligand, although an activation energy was not obtained. The ¹⁹F spectra corresponding to the ground-state structure was reported at -60 °C.

For cyclic derivatives, a phenylphosphorane analogous to the isoelectronic phenyl derivative of silicate **5** (Table I) exhibits a ligand exchange barrier leading to configurational inversion of 28.3 kcal/mol.^{42a} Like that observed for the acyclic derivatives Ph_2MF_3 (M = P, Si⁻), the exchange barrier is lower for the cyclic phenylphosphorane. Energy barriers for inversion of silicates related to **5**,^{42a} where the acyclic ligand varies across the series *n*-Bu, PhCHMe, 4-MeOC₆H₄, Ph, 3-

 $CF_3C_6H_4$, 3,5-(CF_3)₂ C_6H_3 , C_6F_5 , PhO, F,³⁸ CN, show an excellent linear correlation with Taft σ^* inductive parameters.^{42a,55} This trend supports an intramolecular exchange process in which a trigonal bipyramid having a diequatorial ring acts as a close approximation to the barrier state.



As such, an increase in apicophilicity, i.e., electronegativity of Y in this case, is an accord with a reduction in the exchange barrier. The barrier decreases from 28.6 kcal/mol for Y = n-Bu to 16.8 kcal/mol for Y = CN.^{42a}

Working with neutral pentacoordinated silicon compounds 29 and 30, which contain an intramolecular Si-N coordination bond, Corriu and co-workers⁶³ established ligand exchange barrier energies from dynamic ¹H, ¹⁹F, and ²⁹Si NMR measurements. Two



independent exchange processes occur: the intramolecular ligand exchange process of the type we have been discussing and exchange via Si-N bond opening accompanied by rotation and inversion at nitrogen. For example, the former process equilibrates fluorine atoms in **29b** but not the methyls of the NMe₂ group, whereas the latter process does. In this case, ΔG^* results as 13.1 kcal/mol for pseudorotation from the ¹⁹F spectra and 15.8 kcal/mol for the process involving Si-N bond opening and rearrangement obtained from the ¹H NMR data. The corresponding values for **30b** are $\Delta G^* = 9.4$ and 11.8 kcal/mol, respectively.

All of the comparisons of NMR data between fivecoordinated silicon derivatives and phosphoranes are remarkably similar, and like the similarities in reaction schemes of tetracoordinated derivatives for these two elements undergoing nucleophilic substitution, one is led to the conclusion that a common set of criteria appears to guide the course of both exchange processes and reaction mechanisms.

3. Application to the Sol-Gel Process

Acyclic pentaoxy silicon species are of especial interest in modeling condensation reactions of silicic acids in the sol-gel process⁴⁹ due to their presumed intermediacy. However, no five-coordinated derivatives of this class have been isolated for structural study by X-ray diffraction. Only recently has X-ray analysis of some cyclic members been reported,⁴⁴ as discussed in the preceding section. ²⁹Si NMR measurements have established the existence of members of the classes Si(OR)₅⁻, PhSi(OR)₄⁻, Ph_nSi(OCH₂CF₃)_{4-n}^{-,42b,64} and HSi(OR)₄^{-.65} Powders were isolated in the hydrido series as K⁺ salts (R = Et, *i*-Pr, Ph).⁶⁵ In the case of the K⁺,18-crown-6 salt of PhSi(OCH₂CF₃)₄⁻, a crystalline material resulted.^{42b,64} For the other members,

TABLE VII. ²⁹Si NMR Data for R'_nSi(OR)_{5-n} Species^{a,b}

			-
species	δ, ppm	species	δ, ppm
Si(OMe)5	-127.5	Ph ₂ Si(OMe) ₃ ⁻	-97.3
Si(OEt)5	-131.1	$Ph_2Si(OEt)_3$	-101.3
Si(OCH ₂ CF ₃) ₅	-137.4	$Ph_2Si(OCH_2CF_3)_3^{-1}$	-107.7
$Si(OC_6H_4Me^-p)_5^-$	-144.2	Ph ₃ Si(OCH ₂ CF ₃) ₂	-101.2
PhSi(OMe)₄ [−]	-112.4	HSi(OEt)4	-88.1 (223)
PhSi(OEt)₄	-117.3	HSi(OPh)4	-111.9 (296)
$PhSi(OCH_2CF_3)_4^-$	-120.1	· · · •	
$PhSi(OC_eH_AMe-p)_A^-$	-129.7		

^a Formed from the reaction $R'_nSi(OR)_{4-n} + K(OR) + 18$ -crown-6 except the $HSi(OR)_4^-$ members, which resulted from $HSi(OR)_3 + K(OR)$. ^bReferences 42b and 64, except for the $HSi(OR)_4^-$ compounds.⁶⁵ $cJ(^1H-^{29}Si)$ in hertz.

comparisons of ²⁹Si NMR data obtained at low temperature with that for related anionic fluorosilicates indicated the presence of pentacoordination. Representative ²⁹Si parameters are listed in Table VII.

The spectral characterization, particularly of the class $Si(OR)_5^-$, provides strong support for the presence of pentacoordinated species in the polymerization of silicic acid. Further evidence was supplied by Liebau,⁶⁶ who analyzed data from 15 crystal structures that contained C, N, F, or Cl ligands attached to silicon in addition to oxygen. He found a continuous change from an SiA₄ tetrahedron to an SiO₅ trigonal bipyramid. On the basis of a Dunitz reaction path concept,⁶⁷ it is suggested⁶⁶ that this observation reflects a mechanism involving SiO₅ intermediates that occur during reactions of silicates.

Further modeling results from a study of the hydrolysis of dimesityldifluorosilane.¹¹ Reaction of Mes_2SiF_2 with $Et_4NF\cdot 2H_2O$ in acetonitrile resulted in the formation of the five-coordinated complex $[Et_4N][Mes_2SiF_3]$, the hydrogen bisilonate $[Mes_2Si (F)O_{2}[H][Et_{4}N]$, and the disiloxane $(Mes_{2}SiF)_{2}O$. Each of these products was isolated and characterized by solution-state ¹H, ¹⁹F, and ²⁹Si NMR spectroscopy and X-ray analysis.¹¹ The hydrolysis pathway suggested by this study involving the intermediates $Mes_2SiF_3^-$ and $Mes_2Si(F)-O-H-OSi(F)Mes_2$ on the way to the disiloxane is used as a model (Figure 8) for the initial hydrolysis of silicic acid. Ab initio calculations¹¹ show that this model which results in the formation of the disiloxane (HO)₃Si-O-Si(OH)₃ is one of low energy and points to the importance of anionic pentacoordinate silicon in the hydrolytic sequence.

B. Theoretical Basis

1. Apicophilicity

A useful concept in discussing nucleophilic substitution reactions and one that can be put on a quantitative basis via ab initio molecular orbital calculations is provided by the expression for apicophilicity. It is defined as the change in energy when an apical and an equatorial substituent exchange positions in a trigonal bipyramid. For example, the isomer energy difference $E_{\rm II} - E_{\rm I}$ is the apicophilicity of fluorine relative to hydrogen, $A(F_{\rm H})$. The expression written this way will give a positive value for the apicophilicity when structure I with the fluorine axial is more stable than II.





Figure 8. Possible mechanism for initial stages of silicic acid hydrolysis.

Thus, this energy difference measures the degree to which the fluorine atom "prefers" the axial site compared to the hydrogen atom. For acyclic derivatives having simple ligands, apicophilicity integrates a number of factors including electronegativity, inductive effects, and π -bonding contributions. If small-ring systems or sterically encumbered groups are present, then changes in strain energies as the substituents involved move between apical and equatorial positions, e.g., in pseudorotational processes, are additional factors that will contribute to isomer energy differences.^{24,27} As discussed in section II.B.2., apicophilicity is found to parallel leaving group ability. Hence, these terms are used somewhat synonymously.

Ab initio calculations utilizing supercomputers on well-developed programs, such as the GAUSSIAN package of programs,⁶⁸ are able to give meaningful energies as long as a sufficiently advanced basis set is used. However, the system must be kept within reasonable limits relative to available computational time. Since a calculation of apicophilicity for minimum-energy trigonal bipyramids refers to an isomer energy difference and not an absolute energy, some enhancement in the level of confidence in the results is expected. Variation in the apicophilicity of a particular leaving group can be studied as a function of the "attacking" nucleophile or changes in nonreacting substituents. Calculations of this type have been carried out recently for a series of leaving groups. This allows an order of leaving groups to be obtained and examined for changes in ordering that may result from substituent variations.

It was found that computed apicophilicities, in general, agree with the order experimentally established by Corriu and co-workers.^{1,6} For example, GAUSSIAN 82 calculations employing a 6-31+G* basis set, which includes both diffuse orbitals that are important for anionic species and d orbitals for improvement of energies,^{68b} gave an order of apicophilicities Cl > SH > F > OH for the series H_3SiXY , where Y = H represents the nucleophile and X the variable leaving group, both occupying apical positions of a TBP.¹³ This order correlates with the experimental leaving group order (IN) Cl > SH, F > OH > H (RN).^{1,6} Also for [H₃Si-(LG)(Nuc)]⁻, the overlap population for the Si-(LG) bond increases in the order Cl < F ~ SH < OH < H¹³ for the three series where the nucleophile is varied from H to F to Cl, again in agreement with the experimental order showing an increase in retention of configuration from chlorine to hydrogen as leaving groups.

2. Effect of Nucleophile on Apicophilicity of Leaving Group

For a given leaving group, experimentally, variation in the nucleophile may shift the reaction toward a retention or inversion process.⁶⁹ This shift is also reflected in the above type of calculations by a change in the overlap population of the bond between silicon and the leaving group and by a change in the apicophilicity of the leaving group. For a given leaving group, variation in the nucleophile is accompanied by a sizable change in the apicophilicity of the leaving group. This variation correlates linearly with the difference between the equatorial and axial overlap population of the LG, that is, when the LG is moved from an axial to an equatorial position (with the nucleophile in an axial position). This population difference Δl (Si-LG) may be an expression of the relative tendency to form the initial transition states in the retention and inversion processes in Figure 1, b and a, respectively, if the reaction is regarded as under thermodynamic control.

For a given leaving group, such as Cl^- , the apicophilicity of Cl^- is found to decrease with nucleophile in the order $Cl^- > H^- > SH^- > F^- > OH^-$. The same order is observed for F^- as the LG: $H^- > SH^- > F^-$, OH^- .

Corriu⁷⁰ has noted that for a given LG, softer nucleophiles tend to promote an inversion process and harder nucleophiles tend toward retention of configuration.⁷¹ This finding agrees with the general trend calculated for variations in apicophilicity; that is, for the computed series, the softer nucleophiles, H⁻ and SH⁻, result in a greater apicophilicity of the LG compared to harder nucleophiles, F⁻ and OH^{-.72} In a more extensive study,^{10b} comparative ab initio

molecular orbital calculations on pentacoordinated phosphorus and silicon model states have been used to establish apicophilicities in a series of trigonal-bipyramidal molecules composed of all combinations of the ligand atoms, hydrogen, chlorine, and fluorine. In agreement with experimental observations, chlorine is found in general to be more apicophilic than fluorine except when the collective electronegativity of equatorial atoms is increased sufficiently, e.g., as in the PCl_nF_{5-n} series. The crossover in halogen apicophilicity for silicon has an even greater electronegativity requirement in equatorial sites than that for phosphorus and may be responsible for some differences observed between the reaction chemistries of the two systems. Further, as applied in nucleophilic substitution reactions, the apicophilicity of the leaving group is diminished by the compositions of equatorial ligands in the order Cl > F > H. As an example, substitution in MHF₄ illustrates these trends, showing the magnitude of the changes in apicophilicity for the phosphorus se-



CHART I^a

^aReference 10b. ^bIt is understood that when M = Si, the formulations have a negative charge.

ries compared to the silicon series (Chart I). In contrast, the apicophilicity of the leaving group is enhanced by the opposite apical atom in this same order, Cl > F> H, in all cases except that in which the equatorial atoms are of very low electronegativity. Here, the order becomes Cl > H > F. Further, it is found that when equatorial substituents are altered, the calculated apicophilicity correlates directly with ligand charges obtained from a Mulliken population analysis; i.e., the apicophilicity decreases as the difference of the sums of the apical and equatorial ligand atom charges, $\sum q_{eq}$ - $\sum_{T} q_{apr}$ decreases.^{10b}

Insofar as apicophility as determined in the above type of calculations can be related to nucleophilic substitution reactions, the principal conclusion^{10b} reached that might relate to the influence of an entering group in enhancing the reactivity of an electronegative leaving group is that the reactivity should be increased when the equatorial positions are occupied by ligands of low electronegativity and, of the atoms studied, the opposite apical position is occupied by an electronegative atom, where Cl > F in enhancing the apicophilicity of the opposite apical group.

However, since Cl > F in leaving group ability, one would probably not be able to observe experimentally the behavior of fluorine as a leaving group with chlorine in the opposite apical position. Experimentally, one observes that with Cl⁻ as a leaving group, the nucleophilic enhancement of apicophilicity is in the order Cl⁻ > F^- , whereas with fluorine as a leaving group, one observes that F^- enhances the apicophilicity. This could be attributed to a "like apical atom" effect as suggested by Corriu,⁷ but as the calculations have shown,^{10b} it is only a part of a more general effect, namely, $Cl^- > F^-$ > H^- in enhancing the apicophilicity of the opposite apical position. Further, this apicophilicity advantage is maintained as the equatorial hydrogen atoms are substituted by the more electronegative chlorine and fluorine atoms in both the phosphorus and silicon series. For a symmetry-related enhancement, the apicophilicity should be greatest whenever the apical positions are occupied by a fluorine atom opposite a fluorine atom or whenever a chlorine atom is opposite a chlorine atom. This is not indicated in the calculations,^{10b} at least in the model systems referred to.

3. Model Calculations

To gain insight into competitive inversion and re-

TABLE VIII. Energy Barriers to Retention for [NucSiH₃(LG)]⁻ (kcal/mol)¹³

Nucª	LG ^b	apicophilicity of LG $(\Delta E_{12})^c$	pseudorotation barrier $(\Delta E_{13})^c$	apicophilicity of Nuc $(\Delta E_{14})^c$
Н	Cl	25.6 ^d	12.2	
	F	5.6	6.4^{d}	
	SH	9.7	12.1 ^d	
	OH	4.3	11.7^{d}	
	н		7.2^{d}	
F	Cl	20.6 ^d	12.2	3.7
	F	1.9	4.3 ^d	1.9
	SH	7.5	11.5^{d}	3.4
OH	Cl	19.9 ^d	18.6	6.0
	F	1.9	10.0 ^d	2.6
SH	Cl	24.8^{d}	24.7	10.2
	F	3.4	11.5^{d}	7.5

^a Nuc = nucleophile. ^bLG = leaving group. ^c ΔE_{12} , ΔE_{13} , and ΔE_{14} are defined in reference to structures 1, 2, 3, and 4. These structures are as follows: (1) TBP, LG, Nuc(axial); (2) TBP, Nuc(axial), LG(equatorial); (3) SP, LG, Nuc(cis basal); (4) TBP, Nuc(equatorial), LG(axial). ^d Determines total barrier height for retention mechanism 1b of Figure 1.

tention pathways encountered in nucleophilic substitution reactions of tetracoordinate silicon compounds, molecular orbital calculations on the model system $SiH_3X + H^- \rightarrow [HSiH_3X]^- \rightarrow SiH_3H + X^- (X = Cl, F)$ have been conducted.¹² Anh and Minot^{73a} calculated the total MO energy of the system $SiH_3X + H^- (X = F, Cl)$ at the STO-3G level with $Si-H_3X$ fixed in a geometry while H⁻ approached the H-H-H face, or the X-H-H face, until an optimum Si-H distance was obtained.^{73b}

These authors used a frontier orbital approach^{73a} in which the major interaction leading to discrimination between inversion and retention is considered to involve the HOMO of the nucleophile with the LUMO of the tetracoordinated silicon species in a frontside attack process, i.e., equatorial entry and axial departure. Although the arguments are admittedly complex, involving a decision of the relative importance of several factors, it is concluded^{73a} that equatorial entry, i.e., retention, is more favorable for fluorine relative to chlorine as the leaving group. However, the theory does not propose a role for pseudorotation. Further, in more extensive ab initio calculations¹³ based on minimization of energies for ideal trigonal-bipyramidal (TBP) and square-pyramidal (SP) geometries for which optimized bond lengths were obtained, equatorial entry and apical departure prove to be a high-energy process. In this treatment,¹³ the system $[SiH_3XY]^-$ included X = H and Y = H, OH, SH, Cl, F; X = Cl, F, OH, SH and Y = F. The basis set employed was STO-3G but supported by a limited number of higher level calculations $(6-31+G^*)$ employing diffuse orbitals and d functions.

In considering the relative merits of the retention pathways¹³ of Figure 1b (axial entry orthogonal to the LG, pseudorotation, and axial departure of the LG) vs that of Figure 1c (equatorial entry of the nucleophile and apical departure of the LG), one must compare the apicophilicity of the LG (ΔE_{12}), the pseudorotational barrier (ΔE_{13}), and the apicophilicity of the Nuc (ΔE_{14}) (Table VIII). The barrier to retention by the process in Figure 1b is related to the energy difference between structures 1 and 2 or 1 and 3 (depending on whether 2 or 3 is higher in energy), i.e., to ΔE_{12} or ΔE_{13} . The barrier for mechanism b of Figure 1 may be considered in two components: the barrier to attack orthogonal to the LG (as compared to attack by the nucleophile trans to the LG), i.e., ΔE_{12} ; and the energy barrier encountered in Berry pseudorotation, ΔE_{13} . The first component of the barrier, ΔE_{12} , is really a measure of the apicophilicity of the leaving group.

Table VIII lists these barrier heights for both retention mechanisms. For example, in the system SiH₃F + OH⁻ \rightarrow [SiH₃FOH]⁻, the barrier for retention mechanism b of Figure 1 is 10.0 kcal/mol; i.e., $\Delta E_{13} > \Delta E_{12}$. The barrier consists of two parts: the apicophilicity of F, 1.9 kcal/mol, and the additional barrier to pseudorotation of 8.1 kcal/mol. In the system SiH₃Cl + OH⁻ \rightarrow [SiH₃ClOH]⁻, the barrier for retention mechanism b is 19.9 kcal/mol; i.e., $\Delta E_{12} > \Delta E_{13}$. Here the SP (structure 3) encountered in the pseudorotational process is 1.3 kcal/mol lower in energy relative to the TBP (structure 2), which is the initial activated state. The LG order predicted by this calculation of retention barriers (mechanism b of Figure 1) with H⁻ as the nucleophile is

which, with the exception of fluorine, is the same as the order determined experimentally. A similar conclusion is reached with other nucleophiles.

The order determined by the apicophilicity of the LG, ΔE_{12} , is with one exception (LG = OH⁻, Nuc = H⁻) the same as the order determined by the total barrier height. It is seen that the calculated apicophilicity of the LG correlates with the experimentally determined tendency toward retention; i.e., groups with low apicophilicity are poor leaving groups and tend toward the retention processes. It is to be appreciated that the order of apicophilicities, e.g., with H⁻ as the nucleophile, $Cl^- > SH^- > F^- > OH^- > H^-$, does not follow that expected from the relative electronegativities of these elements. In the case of chloride as the LG, experimental data show that nucleophilic substitution proceeds invariably with inversion. The high apicophilicity and LG ability of chlorine surmised from the calculations¹³ support this process.

If the mechanism under consideration is c of Figure 1, then one needs to consider ΔE_{14} , the apicophilicity of the nucleophile, as well as the energy expenditure for edge attack.⁷⁴ The edge attack pathway was shown¹² to be a high-energy process and hence is not considered to be a serious possibility. In addition, there is little correlation between the apicophilicity of the nucleophile and the tendency toward inversion or retention for the edge attack process. For example,¹³ compare Cl⁻ and F^- as leaving groups when F^- is the attacking nucleophile (Table VIII). If mechanism c of Figure 1 were the mechanism for retention, one might expect to see a sizable difference in the apicophilicity of the nucleophile; i.e., when F^- is the leaving group, a low apicophilicity for the nucleophile F⁻ would promote retention, whereas when Cl⁻ is the leaving group, one might expect, since experimentally inversion predominates for Cl⁻, that the apicophilicity of the nucleophile might be much larger than in the case of F^- as leaving group. However, the difference in apicophilicity amounts to only 1.8 kcal/mol. This compares with a difference in barrier heights of 16.3 kcal/mol for these same groups proceeding by retention mechanism b. Comparisons with other nucleophiles and leaving groups in Table VIII lead to the same conclusion.

Further insight into mechanistic features of S_N^2 displacement processes for tetracoordinate silicon comes from calculations for the addition of hydride or fluoride to silane.¹⁷ For example, high-level ab initio calculations by Reed and Schleyer⁷⁵ show that H⁻ ion attack on a tetrahedral face of SiH₄ is predicted to occur without activation, in agreement with a gas-phase kinetic study,^{76a} which results in an activation energy of ~0.3 kcal/mol.^{76b} Formation of SiH₄F⁻ also occurs without activation according to calculations of Davis et al.¹⁶ Activationless potential energy surfaces for formation of SiH₄X⁻ were calculated by Dewar and Healy⁷⁷ for X = F, Cl, Br, OMe. For both SiH₅^{-17,75} and SiH₄F^{-,16} calculations involving removal of H⁻ from an equatorial position of a TBP first involved a change of geometry to give a TBP with the hydride in an apical position.

Calculated barriers for Berry pseudorotations are generally low for the systems treated. For example, calculations by Burggraf and co-workers^{17,78} for Me₄SiX (X = H, OMe, OH, and F) gave barriers of 3 kcal/mol or less when methyl was the pivotal (equatorial) ligand. With X as the pivotal ligand, the barriers were larger and increased with increasing ligand softness,⁷⁹ F < OH < OMe < H.^{17,78}

An interesting trajectory calculation performed by Burggraf and Davis,^{17,80} who modeled the dynamics of chloride substitution at chlorosilane, found that the direction of attack was controlled by long-range charge-dipole interactions. Unsymmetrical collisions induced Berry pseudorotational motions. The calculations further suggest that as a result of the latter motion, a strong-ligand bond site (i.e., equatorial site of a TBP) reorients to a weakly binding site (i.e., an apical site) accompanied by a concentration of vibrational energy into the Si-(LG) bond.

All of these data provide further support for the retention pathway in Figure 1b showing it to be one of low energy. Unfortunately, the pentacoordinated silicon anions for which ligand exchange barriers have been calculated are not the same as those measured experimentally, so a direct comparison cannot be made (see section II.A.2.b). However, the following studies give an indication of barrier energies to be expected for simple silicate anions. Tables V and VI show experimental intramolecular exchange barriers for more highly substituted silicon anions, the K,18-crown-6 salts of the series RR'SiF₃⁻ and RSiF₄⁻, respectively.

For the SiH₅⁻ ion, a variety of calculations⁸¹ have been performed on the energies of the TBP (D_{3h}) and SP $(C_{4\nu})$ forms. Most of the energy differences lie between 2 and 3 kcal/mol, indicating that the Berry pseudorotational process should be very facile down to low temperatures. Recently, this anion was detected⁸² at low pressures in a flowing afterglow apparatus as a metastable species formed by hydride transfer from Et₃SiH₂ to SiH_4 . Quite a few five-coordinated silicon anions have been identified as products of gas-phase ionmolecule reactions.⁸³⁻⁸⁵ More pertinent to solution reaction dynamics is work on the SiF_5^- anion. An early NMR study of $[SiF_5][(n-Pr)_4N]$ by Klanberg and Muetterties⁵⁴ shows only spectroscopic equivalent of fluorine atoms down to -66 °C. This agrees with ab initio results⁸⁶ (6-31+G* level) showing a low exchange barrier between the ground-state TBP and SP transition state of 3.6 kcal/mol. A comparative study⁵⁹ at the 6-31G* level gives 5.6 kcal/mol for the isomer energy difference in PF_5 and 4.2 kcal/mol for SiF_5^- . In all of these calculations, the SP is always the higher energy form. The lower pseudorotational barrier obtained for SiF_5 compared to PF_5 agrees with other indications of the greater nonrigid character of pentacoordinated silicon over that for phosphorus (vide infra). The greater convergence in energies for isomeric structures encountered for pentacoordinated anionic silicates relative to isoelectronic phosphoranes has been discussed in terms of a relative "looseness" in the silicon five-coordinated structure. In this context, it is interesting that the entire series of chlorofluorophosphoranes PCl_nF_{5-n} exists^{52a,86-89} but no chlorofluorides are known for the isoelectronic silicon series, $SiCl_nF_{5-n}$.

One may conclude that it is necessary to take proper account of the fluxional behavior of the pentacoordinated state in considering the course of nucleophilic substitution reactions. The facile intramolecular isomerizations that may occur in transient states of pentacoordinated species are capable of exerting a profound influence on the course of the reaction.

C. Reactivity of Pentacoordinated Species

Having reviewed both experimental and theoretical aspects of nucleophilic substitution at silicon, we consider in this rather brief section recent studies in which pentacoordinate silicon anions either have been found to be more reactive than their respective tetracoordinate precursors or show interesting catalytic features.

Corriu and co-workers^{9a} report that K,18-crown-6 salts of PhMeSiF₃⁻ and Ph₃SiF₂⁻ are much more reactive than PhMeSiF₂ and Ph₃SiF with RMgBr in ether solution to give PhMe(F)SiR and Ph₃Si(R), respectively. Similar enhanced reactivity is found for reaction of these two anionic silicates with other nucleophiles, NaBH₄, LiAlH₄, RLi, and OR⁻. It is suggested^{9a} that the enhanced reactivity might arise from a greater electropositive character of the pentacoordinated silicon atom, as suggested also by calculations.⁹⁰ Based on ab initio calculations^{10a} on the tetracoordinated series SiH_xF_{4-x} and on the related anionic pentacoordinated series $[SiH_xF_{5-x}]^-$ using GAUSSIAN 86, a small change in charge at silicon between the respective silanes and pentacoordinated silicates is found. However, a general loosening of all bonds in the pentacoordinated state occurs, particularly for the apical Si-F bonds as the number of hydrogen substituents increases. This suggests that enhanced reactivity of pentacoordinated species is primarily associated with the presence of a greater leaving group ability on going from the four- to five-coordinated species.^{10a}

Pentacoordinate hydridosilicates have been postulated as reactive species in the reduction of carbonyl compounds with hydrosilanes in the presence of fluoride or alkoxide ion. $^{91-94}$ Recently, anionic species of this class, 30 and 31, have been isolated 95,96 and have been



shown to be the active species in the effective reduction of carbonyl compounds.⁹⁵ Also bis(diolato)hydridosilicates prepared in THF solution (but not isolated) reduce carbonyl compounds to the corresponding alcohols chemo- and stereoselectively in high yields without any added catalyst.⁹³ Further studies on the reactivity of hydridosilicates show that the action of $HSi(OEt)_4^-K^+$, which had been previously isolated,⁶⁵ readily causes the reduction of carbonyl compounds to alcohols in the absence of a catalyst at room temperature.⁹⁷ Pentacoordinated silicon dihydrides show enhanced reactivity with alcohols and carboxylic acids to form alkoxy- or (acyloxy)silanes compared to reactions of the corresponding tetracoordinated dihydridosilanes.98

A further example of the reactivity of five-coordinate silicon is provided by the high specificity in the allylation of aldehydes reported by Kira et al.^{9b} A scheme employing allyltrifluorosilane activated by fluoride ion is postulated^{9b} to proceed by way of initial formation of a pentacoordinate anionic allylsilicate, $R_1R_2C=$ $CHCH_2SiF_4^-$, which is followed by reaction with an aldehyde, R_3CHO , via a six-membered cyclic transition state to give the allylated alcohol:



Hosomi and co-workers⁹⁹ carried out a similar regiospecific allylation reaction under mild conditions but without the addition of a catalyst. In this case, the allylation agent was triethylammonium bis(pyrocatecholato)allylsilicate 32.



Corriu and co-workers¹⁰⁰ carried out an analogous study with derivatives of 32 and found enhanced reactivity of silicon-allyl bonds in the presence of nucleophiles, e.g., NaOMe, KF, or Bu₄NF. Their results suggest it is possible to selectively transfer an allyl group to an aldehyde in the presence of the less reactive ketones. Interestingly, allylsilatranes do not react under the same conditions.¹⁰⁰

A one-step synthesis of mono- and dihydrogenosilanes has been provided by Boudin et al.¹⁰¹ via reaction of anionic hexacoordinated and pentacoordinated silicon compounds, $[(o-O_2C_6H_4)_3Si]^{2^-}$ and $[RSi(o-O_2C_6H_4)_2]^-$, respectively, toward reducing alkyl Grignard reagents activated by Cp₂TiCl₂. Primary alkyl Grignard reagents give monohydrogenosilane while secondary and tertiary alkyl reagents yield dihydrogenosilanes. This is illustrated for the reaction of $[PhSi(o-O_2C_6H_4)_2]^-$ with n-BuMgBr proceeding by way of the proposed route¹⁰¹



A 50% yield results after 3 h of reaction.¹⁰²

The anionic fluorosilicate [Mes₂SiF₃][K,18-crown-6] reacted¹¹ rapidly on addition of water to an acetone solution at 25 °C to give the unique hydrogen bisilonate $Mes_2Si(F)O-H-OSi(F)Mes_2$ and the disiloxane $Mes_2Si(F)-O-Si(F)Mes_2$ as major hydrolysis products. This contrasts to the lack of reaction of Mes₂SiF₂ with water in acetone at 25 °C, showing little change after 24 h.¹¹

III. Conclusion and Future Work

It is clear that work is only beginning to appear on the catalytic properties and unique reactivity patterns of pentacoordinated anionic silicon derivatives of diverse composition. The future is very promising for studies utilizing the special properties accorded the pentacoordinated state. The understanding of mechanistic features of these reactions and others, such as those in the sol-gel $process^{49}$ and group-transfer polymerizations^{103,104} that are dependent on a knowledge of implicated hypervalent species, represents a prime area of investigation. What has been attempted here is to provide an overall view of the complex area of nucleophilic substitution reactions at silicon and to compare their general features, where possible, with similar reactions at phosphorus with the hope of providing a common basis from which future studies may draw. The availability of theoretical studies has provided much needed insight into mechanistic features of the reactions and relative stabilities of pentacoordinated species proposed to take part therein. With the increase in speed continuing to occur in computational chemistry, it should be possible to design models that more closely approximate the actual systems under experimental study.

Acknowledgments. I express my sincere appreciation to my students and co-workers who made this work possible, to Professor Roberta O. Day, assisted by Joan M. Holmes, for the crystallographic work, and especially to Professor Joan A. Deiters of Vassar College, who carried out the theoretical work. The support of our research by the National Science Foundation that is reviewed here is gratefully acknowledged. We also thank the National Science Foundation and San Diego Supercomputer Center for generous allocation of computer time and the staff at SDSC for their advice and encouragement.

Registry No. Si, 7440-21-3.

References

- (a) Corriu, R. J. P.; Guerin, C. Adv. Organomet. Chem. 1982, 20, 265 and references cited therein. (b) Corriu, R. J. P.; Guerin, C.; Moreau, J. J. E. Top. Stereochem. 1984, 15, 48.
 (c) Corriu, R. J. P.; Guerin, C.; Moreau, J. J. E. The Chem-istry of Organic Silicon Compounds; Patai, S., Rappoport, Zvi, Eds.; Wiley: New York, 1989; Part I, pp 305-370.
 (a) Corriu, R. J. P.; Dutheil, J.-P.; Lanneau, G. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 1060. (b) Corriu, R. J. P.; Dutheil, J.-P.; Lanneau, G. F.; Ould-Kada, S. Tetrahedron 1979, 35, 2889. (c) Corriu, R. J. P.; Lanneau, G. F.; Leclercq, D. Phosphorus Sulfur 1983, 18, 197. (d) Sommer, L. H. Intra-Sci. Chem. Rep. 1973, 7, 1.
 (3) Holmes, R. R. Pentacoordinated Phosphorus-Reaction Mechanisms; ACS Monograph 176; American Chemical So-ciety: Washington, DC, 1980; Vol. II, Chapter 2 and refer-ences cited therein.
- ences cited therein.
- (4)Westheimer, F. H. Acc. Chem. Res. 1968, 1, 70 and references cited therein. Also see: Westheimer, F. H. In Rearrange-

ments in Ground and Excited States; DeMayo, P., Ed.; Ac-ademic Press: New York, 1980; Vol. II, p 229.

- (5) Holmes, R. R. Pentacoordinated Phosphorus-Structure and Spectroscopy; ACS Monograph 175; American Chemical Society: Washington, DC, 1980; Vol. I and references cited therein.
- (6)Corriu, R. J. P.; Guerin, C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1980, 198, 231 and references cited therein.
- (7) Corriu, R. J. P. Phosphorus Sulfur 1986, 27, 1 and references cited therein.
- (8) Lanneau, G. F. Phosphorus Sulfur 1986, 27, 43 and references cited therein. See also: Corriu, R. J. P.; Dutheil, J.-P.;
- chies cheu ihereni. See also: Corriu, R. J. P.; Duthell, J.-P.;
 Lanneau, G. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 1060.
 (a) Corriu, R. J. P.; Guerin, C.; Henner, B. J. L.; Wong Chi Man, W. W. C. Organometallics 1988, 7, 237. (b) Kira, M.;
 Kobayashi, M.; Sakurai, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 35, 4081.
 (a) Daiters, J. A.; Holman, P. P. Abstance of American Science Scie (9)
- (10) (a) Deiters, J. A.; Holmes, R. R. Abstract of a presentation at the 197th National Meeting of the American Chemical Society, Dallas, TX, April 1989; INOR 423. (b) Deiters, J. A.; Holmes, R. R.; Holmes, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 7070, 7091 7672-7681
- (11) Johnson, S. E.; Deiters, J. A.; Day, R. O.; Holmes, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 3250.
- (12) Deiters, J. A.; Holmes, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 1686-1692
- (13) Deiters, J. A.; Holmes, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 1692-1696.
- (14) Davis, L. P.; Burggraf, L. W. "Applications of MNDO to Silicon Chemistry". In Hench, L. L.; Ulrich, D. R., Eds. Science of Ceramic Chemical Processing; Wiley: New York,

- Science of Ceramic Chemical Processing; Wiley: New York, 1986; pp 400-411.
 Davis, L. P.; Burggraf, L. W.; Gordon, M. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 3056-3062.
 Davis, L. P.; Burggraf, L. W.; Gordon, M. S.; Baldridge, K. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 4415-4419.
 Burggraf, L. W.; Davis, L. P.; Gordon, M. S. Top. Phys. Or-ganomet. Chem. 1989, 3, 75.
 Chem. 198. L. P.; Cuarin, C. Naux, J. Chim.
- Corriu, R. J. P.; Fernandez, J. M.; Guerin, C. Nouv. J. Chim. (18)1984, 8, 279-284.
- (19) Corriu, R. J. P.; Lanneau, G. F.; Leclercq, D. Tetrahedron 1986, 42, 5591-5600.
- Reference 3, pp 89, 98 (20)
- (20) Reference 3, pp 89, 98.
 (21) Reference 3, pp 153-157.
 (22) Marsi, K. L. J. Org. Chem. 1975, 40, 1779-1784. Marsi, K. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1969, 91, 4724-4729. Egan, W.; Chauviere, G.; Mislow, K.; Clark, R. T.; Marsi, K. L. J. Chem. Soc. D 1970, 733-734. Marsi, K. L.; Burns, F. B.; Clark, R. T. J. Org. Chem. 1972, 37, 238-241. Marsi, K. L. Chem. Commun. 1968, 846-847. Marsi, K. L.; Oberlander, J. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 200-204. Marsi, K. L.; Clark, R. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1970, 92, 3791-3793. Marsi, K. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1971, 93, 6341-6342. Soc. 1971, 93, 6341-6342. (23) Reference 3, Chapter 1.
- (24) Trippett, S. Pure Appl. Chem. 1974, 40, 595-605.
- (25) Oram, R. K.; Trippett, S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1973, 1300.

- (26) Reference 3, pp 32-48.
 (27) Holmes, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 433.
 (28) Harland, J. J.; Day, R. O.; Vollano, J. F.; Sau, A. C.; Holmes, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 5269.
- R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 5269.
 (29) Holmes, R. R.; Day, R. O.; Harland, J. J.; Sau, A. C.; Holmes, J. M. Organometallics 1984, 3, 341.
 (30) Holmes, R. R.; Day, R. O.; Harland, J. J.; Holmes, J. M. Organometallics 1984, 3, 347.
 (31) Holmes, R. R.; Day, R. O.; Chandrasekhar, V.; Holmes, J. M. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 2009.
 (32) Holmes, D. D. D. D. O.
- (32) Holmes, R. R.; Day, R. O.; Chandrasekhar, V.; Harland, J. J.; Holmes, J. M. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 2016.
 (33) Holmes, R. R. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 32, Chapter 2.
 (34) Holmes, R. R.; Deiters, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99,
- 3318(35) (a) Holmes, R. R. Acc. Chem. Res. 1979, 12, 257. (b) Refer-
- (a) Hintes, It. Her. Content. Hest 1979, 12, 2011 (b) Hereit ence 5, Chapter 2.
 (36) Berry, R. S. J. Chem. Phys. 1960, 32, 933.
 (37) Boer, F. P.; Flynn, J. J.; Turley, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 90, 6973.

- (38) Farnham, W. G.; Harlow, R. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 4608.

- 4608.
 (39) Schomburg, D. J. Orgnomet. Chem. 1981, 221, 137.
 (40) (a) Schomburg, D. Z. Natursforsch., B: Anorg. Chem., Org. Chem. 1982, 37B, 195. (b) Schomburg, D.; Krebs, R. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 23, 1378.
 (41) Holmes, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975, 97, 5379.
 (42) (a) Stevenson, W. H., III; Wilson, S.; Martin, J. C.; Farnham, W. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 6340. (b) Kumara Swamy, K. C.; Chandrasekhar, V.; Harland, J. J.; Holmes, J. M.; Day, R. O.; Holmes, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc., in press.
 (43) Dennis, L. W.; Bartuska, V. J.; Maciel, G. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1982, 104, 230.

- (44) Holmes, R. R.; Day, R. O.; Payne, J. S. Phosphorus, Sulfur, Silicon 1989, 42, 1.
- Johnson, S. E.; Day, R. O.; Holmes, R. R. Inorg. Chem. 1989, (45)28, 3182.
- (46) Johnson, S. E.; Payne, J. S.; Day, R. O.; Holmes, J. M.; Holmes, R. R. *Inorg. Chem.* **1989**, *28*, 3190.
 (47) Dixon, D. A.; Hertler, W. R.; Chase, D. B.; Farnham, W. B.; Davidson, F. *Inorg. Chem.* **1988**, *27*, 4012.
 (40) With W. Kubut, C. Schweit, H. J. Am. Chem. Ser.
- (48) Kira, M.; Sato, K.; Kabuto, C.; Sakurai, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989., 111, 3747
- (49) (a) Iler, R. K. The Chemistry of Silica; Wiley: New York, 1979. (b) Shimono, T.; Isobe, T.; Tarutani, T. J. Chromatogr. 1983, 258, 73. (c) Okkerse, C. "Porous Silica". In Linsen, B. G., Ed. Physical and Chemical Aspects of Adsorbents and Catalysts; Academic Press: New York, 1970; Chapter 5.
 (50) Frye, C. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1970, 92, 1205.
 (51) Harland, J. J.; Payne, J. S.; Day, R. O.; Holmes, R. R. Inorg.

- Chem. 1987, 26, 760. (a) Hansen, K. W.; Bartell, L. S. Inorg. Chem. 1965, 4, 1775. (b) Yow, H.; Bartell, L. S. J. Mol. Struct. 1973, 15, 209. (52)
- (53) In addition to structures of anionic siliconates, structures of neutral pentacoordinates of allocit successful the set of the set tained (e.g., 29 and 30) showing SI→N coordination. This class of substances has been discussed recently: Boyer, J.; Brelière, C.; Carré, F.; Corriu, R.; Kpoton, A.; Poirier, M.; Royo, G.; Young, J. C. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 43 and references cited therein. Brelière, C.; Carré, F.; Corriu, R. J. P.; Poirier, M.; Royo, G. Organometallics 1986, 5, 388.
 (54) Klanberg, F.; Muetterties, E. L. Inorg. Chem. 1968, 7, 155.
 (55) Stevenson, W. H., III; Martin, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 6352
- 107. 6352.
- (56) (a) Damrauer, R.; Danahey, S. E. Organometallics 1986, 5, 1490. (b) Damrauer, R.; O'Connell, B.; Danahey, S. E.; Simon, R. Organometallics 1989, 8, 1167.
- mon, R. Organometallics 1989, 8, 1167.
 (57) Deiters, J. A., computed activation energies from the variable-temperature NMR spectra for the [K, 18-crown-6] salts of (CH₂)₅SiF₃⁻ and (TTBP)SiF₄⁻.
 (58) (a) Moreland, C. G.; Doak, G. O.; Littlefield, L. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 255. (b) Moreland, C. G.; Doak, G. O.; Littlefield, L. B.; Walker, N. S.; Gilje, J. W.; Braun, R. W.; Cowley, A. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 2161.
 (59) Deiters, J. A. Holmes, R. B. unpublished work
- (59) Deiters, J. A.; Holmes, R. R., unpublished work.
 (60) Eisenhut, H.; Mitchell, H. L.; Traficante, D. D.; Kaufman, R. J.; Deutch, J. M.; Whitesides, G. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 5385.
- Cowley, A. H.; Braun, R. W.; Gilje, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975, 97, 434. (61)
- (62) Appel, R.; Krieger, L. J. Fluorine Chem. 1984, 26, 445.
 (63) (a) Corriu, R. J. P.; Kpoton, A.; Poirier, M.; Royo, G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1984, 277, C25. (b) Corriu, R.; Young, J. C. The Chemistry of Organic Silicon Compounds; Patai, S., Rappoport, Zvi, Eds.; Wiley: New York, 1989; Part II, p 1259
- Kappoport, Zvi, Eds.; Wiley: New York, 1989; Part II, p 1299 and references cited therein.
 (64) Johnson, S. E.; Kumara Swamy, K. C.; Day, R. O.; Holmes, R. R. Presented in part at the XXI Organosilicon Symposium of Montreal, Quebec, Canada, June 1988, Abstract 022.
 (65) Becker, B.; Corriu, R.; Guerin, C.; Henner, B.; Wang, Q. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 359, C33.
 (62) Licker, P. Lorge Chim. 4245, 1984, 89, 1

- (66) Liebau, F. Inorg. Chim. Acta 1984, 89, 1.
 (67) Dunitz, J. D. X-Ray Analysis and Structure of Organic Molecules; Cornell University Press: Ithaca, NY, 1979; Chapter 7
- Chapter 7.
 (a) Frisch, M. J.; Binkley, J. S.; Schlegel, H. B.; Raghavachari, K.; Melius, C. F.; Martin, R. L.; Stewart, J. J. P.; Bobrowicz, F. W.; Rohlfing, C. M.; Kahn, L. R.; Defrees, D. J.; Seeger, R.; Whiteside, R. A.; Fox, D. J.; Fleuder, E. M.; Pople, J. A. GAUSSIAN 86, Carnegie-Mellon Quantum Chemistry Publishing Unit: Pittsburgh, PA, 1984. (b) Hehre, W. J.; Radom, L.; Schleyer, P. v. R.; Pople, J. A. Ab Initio Molecular Orbital Theory; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1985; p 87. (68)
- (69) Reference 1, pp 275ff.
 (70) Reference 6, pp 278ff.

- (10) Reference 6, p 259.
 (71) Reference 6, p 259.
 (72) Klopman, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 90, 223.
 (73) (a) Anh, N. T.; Minot, C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 103.
 (b) At the Si-H distances used by Anh and Minot^{73a} for hydright between the second that the transmitted attractives that show the dride ion approach, we computed structures that show the geometries to be nearly trigonal bipyramidal.¹² Thus, the assumed tetrahedral geometry is not a good model at this stage of the reaction. Further, H^- attack trans to the leaving group and H⁻ attack cis to the leaving group show the same energy difference for X = F and Cl. Hence, use of the closeness in energy between the two paths for X = F com-pared to X = Cl obtained by Anh and Minot^{73a} in support of a preferred retention scheme for F over Cl at these Si-H distances is not sustained.
- (74) Reference 6, pp 295ff.
 (75) Reed, A. E.; Schleyer, P. v. R. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1987, 133, 553.

- (76) (a) Payzant, J. D.; Tanaka, K.; Betowski, L. D.; Bohme, D. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 894. (b) Even though these calculations and gas-phase processes indicate activationless formations of simple five-coordinated anionic silicon species, this does not mean that activationless processes exist in condensed media. In this sense, the application of models that are too far removed from the actual system, particularly with respect to the nucleophile, may be misleading. (77) Dewar, M. J. S.; Healy, E. Organometallics 1982, 1, 1705. (78) Burggraf, L. W.; Davis, L. P.; Gordon, M. S., personal com-
- munication.
- (79) Pearson, R. G.; Songstad, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1967, 89, 1827.
- (80) Burggraf, L. W.; Davis, L. P., personal communication.
 (81) Reference 17, Table 4. See also: Gordon, M. S.; Windus, T.
- (81)L.; Burggraf, L. W.; Davis, L. P., submitted for publication.
- (82) Hajdasz, D. J.; Squires, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108,
- (83) (a) Klass, G.; Trenerry, C.; Sheldon, J. C.; Bowie, J. H. Aust. J. Chem. 1981, 34, 519. (b) Sheldon, J. C.; Bowie, J. H.; Hayes, R. N. Nouv. J. Chim. 1984, 8, 79. (c) Sheldon, J. C.; Hayes, R. N.; Bowie, J. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 7711. (d) Hayes, R. N.; Bowie, J. H.; Klass, G. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1984, 1167.
- (84) Murphy, M. K.; Beauchamp, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 4992
- (85) (a) DePuy, C. H.; Bierbaum, V. M.; Flippin, L. A.; Grabowski, J. J.; Schmitt, R. J.; Sullivan, S. A. J. An. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 5012. (b) Sullivan, S. A.; DePuy, C. H.; Damrauer, R. J. 102, 5012. (b) Sullivan, S. A.; DePuy, C. H.; Damrauer, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 480. (c) Squires, R. R.; DePuy, C. H. Org. Mass. Spectrom. 1982, 17, 187. (d) Damrauer, R.; DePuy, C. H.; Bierbaum, V. M. Organometallics 1982, 1, 1553. (e) DePuy, C. H.; Damrauer, R. Organometallics 1984, 3, 362. (f) DePuy, C. H.; Bierbaum, V. M.; Damrauer, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 4051.
 (a) Griffiths, J. E.; Carter, R. P., Jr.; Holmes, R. R. J. Chem. Phys. 1964, 41, 863-876. (b) Holmes, R. R.; Carter, R. P., Jr.; Peterson, G. E. Inorg. Chem. 1964, 3, 1748-1754. (c) Holmes, R. R. J. Chem. Phys. 1967, 46, 3718-3723. (d) Deiters, R. M.; Holmes, R. R. J. Chem. Phys. 1968, 48, 4796-4798.
 (87) Holmes, R. R.; Gallagher, W. P. Inorg. Chem. 1963, 2, 433-437.
- 433-437.
- (88)Macho, C.; Minkwitz, R.; Rohmann, J.; Steger, B.; Wölfel, V.; Oberhammer, H. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 2828-2835.

- (89) (a) French, R. J.; Hedberg, K.; Shreeve, J. M.; Gupta, K. D. Inorg. Chem. 1985, 24, 2774-2777. (b) French, R. J.; Hed-berg, K.; Shreeve, J. M. Presented at the 10th Austin Sym-Josium on Gas Phase Molecular Structure, 1984; TA 6. (c)
 Romanov, G. V.; Spiridonov, V. P. J. Struct. Chem. (Engl. Transl.) 1967, 8, 131–132. (d) Spiridonov, V. P.; Ischenko, A. A.; Ivashkevich, L. S. J. Mol. Struct. 1981, 72, 153–164. (e)
 Adams, W. J.; Bartell, L. S. J. Mol. Struct. 1971, 8, 23–30. (f)
 McGieller J. W.; Hodbarg, L.; Hodbarg, K. J. Mod. Struct. Struct. 1971, 8, 2000. (f) McClelland, B. W.; Hedberg, L.; Hedberg, K. J. Mol. Struct. 1983, 99, 309-313.
- 1983, 99, 309-313.
 (90) Baybutt, P. Mol. Phys. 1975, 29, 389.
 (91) Boyer, J.; Corriu, R. J. P.; Perz, R.; Reye, C. Tetrahedron 1981, 37, 2165. Boyer, J.; Corriu, R. J. P.; Perz, R.; Poirier, M.; Reye, C. Synthesis 1981, 558. Chuit, C.; Corriu, R. J. P.; Perz, R.; Reye, C. Ibid. 1982, 981.
 (92) (a) Fujita, M.; Hiyama, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 4629. (b) Fujita, M.; Hiyama, T. Ibid. 1985, 107, 8294. (c) Fujita, M.; Hiyama, T. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 2263.
 (93) Kira, M.; Sato, K.; Sakurai, H. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 948.
 (94) Hosomi, A.; Hayashida, H.; Kohra, S.; Tominaga, Y. J. Chem.
- (94) Hosomi, A.; Hayashida, H.; Kohra, S.; Tominaga, Y. J. Chem.
- Soc., Chem. Commun. 1986, 1411. (95) Kiro, M.; Sato, K.; Sakurai, H. Chem. Soc. Jpn., Chem. Lett.
- 1987, 2243. (96) Perozzi, E. F.; Martin, J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101,
- 1591.
- (97) Corriu, R.; Guérin, C.; Henner, B.; Wang, Q. J. Orgnomet. Chem. 1989, 365, C7.
 (98) Boyer, J.; Brelière, C.; Corriu, R.; Kpoton, A.; Poirier, M.; Royo, G. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 311, C39.
 (99) Hosomi, A.; Kohra, S.; Tominaga, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1987, 1517
- Commun. 1987, 1517.

- Commun. 1987, 1517.
 (100) Cerveau, G.; Chuit, C.; Corriu, R.; Reye, C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 328, C17.
 (101) Boudin, A.; Cerveau, G.; Chuit, C.; Corriu, R. J. P.; Reye, C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1989, 362, 265.
 (102) See also Chuit et al. (Chuit, C.; Corriu, R.; Reye, C. J. Organomet. Chem. 1988, 358, 57) for an assessment of mechanistic implications of hymeryleat silicon species in the nucleophilic *homet. Chem.* 1936, 356, 57) for an assessment of mechanistic implications of hypervalent silicon species in the nucleophilic activation of silyl enol ethers and esters.
 (103) Webster, O. W.; Hertler, W. R.; Sogah, D. Y.; Farnham, W. B.; Rajanbabu, T. V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 5706.
 (104) Sogah, D. Y.; Farnham, W. B. Organosilicon and Bioorganosilicon Chemistry; Sakurai, H., Ed.; Ellis Horwood Ltd.; Chichester 1985; p. 219.
- Ltd.: Chichester, 1985; p 219.